






























































































































































(registered outside of the U.S.). In other words, 
the New York Agency, which is a bank branch 
registered in the U.S. and naturally subject to 
the banking laws and other current U.S. 
regulations, is not the owner of Assa Corporation. 
In fact, Bank Melli Iran, which belongs to the 
Islamic Republic of Iran and is naturally not 
subject to current U.S. laws, is the owner of Assa 
Corporation through two other companies. Now, 
considering the discussion of legal inclusion, it 
is requested that the matters be reviewed again 
and have that Agency's viewpoints declared. 

Of course l the other noteworthy issue in this 
regard is the matter related to Algeria/s 
statement and the financial disagreement between 
the two countries I which could be significant due 
to the risk of seizure of the elements connected 
to the Islamic Republic of Iranls assets in the 
United States. This l of course l has no 
relationship with the topic of legal inclusions. 
It is obvious if that Agency has any opinions 
regarding the latter subject and could estimate 
the percentage of risk of the seizure of these 
properties in case of the revelation of the 
ownership by Assa Corporation l it would be 
appreciated. A quick response is highly 
appreciated. 

v. ADDITIONAL DEFENDANT PROPERTIES 

The Assa Accounts 

120. Defendant Accounts-1 1 -21 -3 1 and -4 

(collectivelYI the "Assa Accounts ll
) are held in the name of Assa 

Corp. Tafti was the only signatory on the Assa Accounts. 

121. Between January 71 2000 and December 51 2007 1 

approximately $17 1083 / 000 from 650 Fifth Avenue Company was 

deposited into Account-1. The bank records for Account-1 also 

show the following financial activities l among others: 

a. On or about December 3 1 2007 1 Tafti wrote a check 
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for $10,500, from Account-I, to pay the rent for the 
house in which he lived. 

b. On or about December 5, 2007, Account-l received a 
wire transfer of $200,000 from 650 Fifth Avenue 
Company. 

c. On or about April 2, 2008, Tafti wrote a check for 
$40,000 to New York State Corporation Tax from Account-
1. 

d. On or about April 2, 2008, Tafti wrote a check for 
$1,240 to New York State Corporation Tax from Account-
1. 

e. On or about April 2, 2008, Tafti wrote a check for 
$202 to New York State Corporation Tax from Account-I. 

f. On or about April 3, 2008, Tafti wrote a check for 
$37,500 to the New York City Department of Finance from 
Account-I. 

122. Approximately $1.09 million was transferred from 

Account-l to Account-3 in November 2006. In addition, Tafti 

transferred substantial amounts from Account-l to Assa Co. Ltd. 

For example, checks drawn from Account-l and made payable to Assa 

Limited were debited to Account-Ion the following dates and for 

the following amounts: 

4/15/2002 

2/21/2003 

4/5/2004 

8/27/2004 

Amount 

$1,020,600.00 

$1,020,600.00 

$1,360,800.00 

$700,000.00 

123. In or about October 2008, agents of the Federal 

Bureau of Investigation ("FBI") executed federal seizure warrants 
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for the funds in the Assa Accounts. Approximately $1.9 million 

was seized from Citibank, and approximately $1.2 was seized from 

JPMorgan. 

The Alavi Accounts 

124. Defendant Accounts-7, -8, and -9 (collectively, 

the "Alavi Accounts") are held in the name of the Alavi 

Foundation at. Sterling National Bank, N.A. 

125. Tax records show that the vast majority of the 

Alavi Foundation's income has consisted of proceeds of the 

Building. For the tax years 1999 through 2007, the Alavi 

Foundation reported approximately $38,969,065 in income from 650 

Fifth Avenue Company, versus approximately $3,812,053 in other 

income, as summarized below: 

Fiscal Year Income From 
Ending 650 Fifth 

March 31 Avenue Com12any Total Income Percentage 

1999 $4,887,235 $5,445,501 90% 

2000 $5,330,497 $5,844,672 91% 

2001 $4,655,384 $5,294,560 88% 

2002 $4,469,901 $4,723,404 95% 

2003 $3,938,018 $4,161,752 95% 

2004 $2,764,687 $3,029,671 91% 

2005 $3,884,354 $4,366,568 89% 

2006 $4,499,680 $5,013,490 90% 

2007 $4,506,464 $4,901,500 92% 

TOTAL $38,936,220 $42,781,118 91% 
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126. The other income reported by the Alavi Foundation 

consisted of dividends and capital gain on investments, interest 

on savings and temporary cash investments, contributions, rental 

income from Defendant Property-3, and "miscellaneous./I The vast 

majority of this other income was income on investments and 

savings; only a small percentage of the Alavi Foundation's 

reported income came from contributions or rent from Defendant 

Property-3. For tax years 1999 through 2007, Alavi's income from 

investments totaled approximately $3,213,889, whi income from 

contributions and rent from Defendant Property-3 totaled only 

approximately $113,428 and $484,736, respectively. 

127. Alavi Foundation bank records similarly show that 

at least approximately $36,720,900 was deposited from 650 Fifth 

Avenue Company bank accounts into the Alavi Accounts between in 

or about January 2000 and in or about October 2008. 

a. Between in or about June 2002 and in or about 
October 2008, approximately $17,946,649 was 
transferred from 650 Fifth Avenue Company to an 
account held by the Alavi Foundation at JPMorgan 
Chase Bank, N.A., numbered 987078225765 ("Alavi 
JPMC Account-I"). Between in or about June 2002 
and in or about February 2009, approximately 
$15,820,000 was transferred from the Alavi JPMC 
Account-l to a second account held by Alavi at 
JPMorgan Chase, N.A., numbered 987078212665 
("Alavi JPMC Account-2") . 

b. Between in or about January 2000 and in or about 
May 2002, approximately $11,512,000 was 
transferred from 650 Fifth Avenue Company to an 
account held by the Alavi Foundation at Citibank, 
N.A., numbered 48707101. 
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c. Between in or about June 2002 and in or about July 
2006, approximately $6,582,251 was transferred 
from 650 Fifth Avenue Company to an account held 
by the Alavi Foundation at HSBC USA, N.A., 
numbered 640801422 ("Alavi HSBC Account-1") . 

d. Between in or about September 2002 and in or about 
September 2003, approximately $250,000 was 
transferred from 650 Fifth Avenue Company to 
Account-7 at Sterling National Bank, N.A. 

e. In or about December 2001, approximately $100,000 
was transferred from 650 Fifth Avenue Company to 
an account held by the Alavi Foundation at 
Citibank, N.A., numbered 49807841. 

128. Based on an analysis of presently-available bank 

records for the Alavi Foundation, generally covering the time 

period from in or about January 2000 through in or about February 

2007, only approximately $24,595 was deposited into Alavi 

Foundation bank accounts from sources other than 650 Fifth Avenue 

Company or other accounts held in the name of the Alavi 

Foundation. 

129. The Alavi Accounts were funded by transfers from 

the Alavi JPMC Accounts. 

a. On or about December 10, 2008, approximately 
$500,000 was transferred to Account-7 from the 
Alavi HSBC Account. 

b. Between in or about July 2009 and in or about 
October 2009, approximately $981,533 was 
transferred to Account-7 from 650 Fifth Avenue 
Company. 

c. The most recently-available account balance for 
Account-7 is approximately $899,890. 

d. Between in or about December 2008 and in or about 
June 2009, approximately $784,324 was transferred 
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to Account-8 from Account-7 and another account 
held in the name of the Alavi Foundation at HSBC 
USA, N.A., numbered 610751042. The second HSBC 
account, in turn, was funded by transfers from 
Alavi JPMC Account-1 and from Alavi HSBC Account-
1. Between in or about May 2007 and in or about 
November 2008, the second Alavi HSBC account 
received transfers from Alavi JPMC Account-1 and 
Alavi HSBC Account-1 totaling approximately 
$669,383. 

e. The most recently-available account balance for 
Account-8 is approximately $448,624. 

f. Between in or about August 2009 and in or about 
October 2009, approximately $1,350,000 was 
transferred to Account 9 from Account-7. The most 
recently-available account balance for Account-9 
is approximately $228,416. 

The Partnership Accounts 

130. Defendant Accounts-5 and -6 (collectively, the 

"Partnership Accounts") are held in the name of 650 Fifth Avenue 

Company. The only source of funds in the Partnership Accounts is 

income from the Building. The Partnership Accounts are used by 

650 Fifth Avenue Company to pay distributions to Assa Corp. and 

to the Alavi Foundation. 

131. As discussed supra in paragraph 125, between in or 

about January 2000 and in or about October 2008, approximately 

$36,720,900 was transferred from the Partnership Accounts to the 

Alavi Accounts, including the following transfers: 

-85-



Date To Amount 

7/11/2008 Partnership Alavi JPMC $330,000 
Account 5 Account-1 

8/1/2008 Partnership Alavi JPMC $330,000 
Account-5 Account-1 

9/4/2008 Partnership Alavi JPMC $330,000 
Account-5 Account-1 

10/3/2008 Partnership Alavi JPMC $330,000 
Account-5 Account-1 

132. As discussed above, between in or about January 

2000 and in or about December 2007, approximately $17,083,000 was 

transferred from the Partnership Accounts to Assa Corp.'s 

Account-1. 

133. In addition, income from 650 Fifth Avenue Company 

was used to pay for the Building's maintenance and other 

expenses. For example, in December 2008, approximately $578,000 

was spent on building expenditures. 

The Alavi Foundation's Other Real Properties 

134. Defendant Real Properties-2, -3, -4, -5, ~6, -7, 

and -8 (collectively, the "Foundation Real Properties") are held 

in the name of the Alavi Foundation. The Alavi Foundation has 

spent millions of dollars in proceeds of IEEPA violations on the 

Foundation Real Properties. 

135. The Alavi Foundation (then known as the Mostazafan 

Foundation of New York) acquired Defendant Real Property-2 on or 

about November 7, 1988, for approximately $1.1 million. Between 
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in or about October 1997 and in or about July 2004, the Alavi 

Foundation spent at least approximately $285,000 on the land and 

improvements of Defendant Real Property-2. Alavi Foundation bank 

records show that: 

a. On or about October 3, 1997, the Alavi Foundation 
spent approximately $60,000 for construction / 
remodeling at Defendant Real Property-2 

b. On or about December 30, 1997, the Alavi 
Foundation spent approximately $60,000 for 
construction / remodeling at Defendant Real Property-2. 

c. On or about September 11, 2000, the Alavi 
Foundation spent approximately $75,000 for second floor 
construction at Defendant Real Property-2. 

d. On or about August 25, 2000, the Alavi Foundation 
spent approximately $75,000 for second floor 
construction at Defendant Real Property-2. 

e. On or about July 23, 2004, the Alavi Foundation 
spent approximately $15,000 for second floor 
construction at Defendant Real Property-2. 

136. The Alavi Foundation acquired Lot 1 of Defendant 

Real Property-3 on or about March 20, 1991, and acquired lots 6, 

7, and 8 on or about April 14, 1997. Lot 1 was purchased with a 

mortgage loan from Bank Saderat Iran in the principal sum of 

$2,523,461. On or about March 24, 1998, Bank Saderat executed a 

satisfaction of mortgage with respect to this loan. 

137. Between in or about March 1995 and in or about 

March 2008, the Alavi Foundation spent approximately $8,648,064 

on land and improvements of Defendant Real Property-3. The Alavi 

Foundation's 2008 990-PF discloses that the Foundation spent 
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$211,666 on land in or about October 1997, and spent the 

following amounts on improvements: 

Month 

March 1995 

March 1996 

October 1996 

October 1997 

March 1999 

January 2000 

January 2001 

November 2001 

September 2002 

March 2004 

March 2005 

June 2005 

September 2006 

March 2008 

Approximate expenditures 

$2,651,057 

$1,905,069 

$641,152 

$253,992 

$584,826 

$1,902,927 

$182,899 

$117,348 

$89,100 

$20,968 

$15,000 

$10,000 

$42,060 

$20,000 

138. Alavi Foundation bank records confirm that the 

Foundation spent at least approximately $2,000,685 on 

construction projects at Defendant Real Property-3 between in or 

about February 1999 and in or about March 2008. 

139. The Alavi Foundation (then known as the Mostazafan 

Foundation of New York) acquired Defendant Real Property-4 on or 

about March 21, 1989. Between in or about July 1996 and in or 
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about November 2005, the Alavi Foundation spent at least 

approximately $14,373.74 on improvements and real estate taxes 

for Defendant Real Property-4. 

140. The Alavi Foundation (then known as the Mostazafan 

Foundation of New York) acquired Defendant Real Properties-5 and 

-6 on or about May 25/ 1990. On or about July 17, 1995, the 

Mostazafan Foundation of New York transferred title to the 

properties to the Alavi Foundation. According to banking 

records, from at least in or about June 2002 through in or about 

November 2007, the Alavi Foundation paid approximately 

$114,345.65 in real estate taxes for these properties. 

141. The Alavi Foundation (then known as Mostazafan 

Foundation of New York) acquired Defendant Real Property-7 on or 

about July 22, 1981, and acquired Defendant Real Property-8 on or 

about October 30, 1984. On or about August 31, 1995, the 

Mostazafan Foundation of New York transferred title to the 

properties to the Alavi Foundation. 

142. Between March 2000 and January 2008, the Alavi 

Foundation spent approximately $1,010,042 on the land and 

improvements at Defendant Real Properties-7 and -8. The Alavi 

Foundation's 2008 990-PF discloses that the it spent the 

following amounts on improvements: 
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Month Approximate expenditures 

March 2000 $75,000 

August 2000 $170,500 

February 2001 $7,226 

September 2001 $232,582 

November 2002 $101,300 

January 2006 $55,000 

April 2006 $3,800 

May 2006 $20,000 

September 2006 $55,384 

January 2007 $43,000 

July 2007 $40,000 

August 2007 $99,500 

October 2007 $21,000 

November 2007 $65,000 

January 2008 $20,750 

Total: $1,010,042 

143. Alavi Foundation bank records confirm that the 

Foundation spent at least approximately $356,500 on construction, 

improvement, and repair projects at Defendant Real Property-7 and 

-8 between in or about May 2000 and in or about October 2007. 

VI. CLAIMS FOR FORFEITURE 

144. The statutory provisions pursuant to which the 

Defendant Properties are subject to seizure and forfeiture are 
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described below. 

Proceeds Traceable to Violations of IEEPA 

145. Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a) (1) (C) 

subjects to forfeiture " [a]ny property, real or personal, which 

constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to a violation 

of ... any offense constituting 'specified unlawful activity' 

(as defined section 1956(c) (7) of this title), or a conspiracy 

to commit such offense." 

146. Under Section 1956 (c) (7), the term "specified 

unlawful activity" includes, among other things, violations of 

"section 206 (relating to penalties) of the International 

Emergency Economic Powers Act [50 U.S.C. § 1705].n Section 1705 

provides, in part, that "[i]t shall be unlawful for a person to 

violate, attempt to violate, conspire to violate, or cause a 

violation of any license, order, regulation, or prohibition 

issued under this title." 50 U.S.C. § 1705(a). 

147. In addition, Title 18, United States Code, Section 

984 provides in relevant part that: 

(a) (1) In any forfeiture action in rem in 
which the subject property is cash, monetary 
instruments in bearer form, funds deposited 
in an account in a financial institution (as 
defined in section 20 of this title), or 
precious metals -

(A) it shall not be necessary for the 
Government to identify the specific property 
involved in the offense that is the basis for 
the forfeiture; and 
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(B) it shall not be a defense that the 
property involved in such an offense has been 
removed and replaced by identical property. 

(2) Except as provided in subsection (b), any 
identical property found in the same place 6r 
account as the property involved in the' 
offense that is the basis for the forfeiture 
shall be subject to forfeiture under this 
section. 

(b) No action pursuant to this section to 
forfeit property not traceable directly to 
the offense that is the basis for the 
forfeiture may be commenced more than 1 year 
from the date of the offense. 

148. Because the Defendant Properties constitute or 

were derived from proceeds traceable to violations of executive 

orders and regulations issued pursuant to IEEPA (including 

Executive Orders 12969 and 13059; 31 C.F.R. §§ 560.203, 560.204, 

560.206, 560.207, and 560.208; Executive Order 13382; and 31 

C.F.R. § 544.201), the Defendant Properties are subject to 

forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a) (1) (C). 

Property Involved in Laundering Proceeds of IEEPA Violations 

149. Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a) (1) (A) 

subjects to forfeiture" [a]ny property, real or personal, 

involved in a transaction or attempted transaction in violation 

of . . . section 1956 or 1957 of this title [relating to money 

laundering], or any property traceable to such property. II 

150. Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a) 

provides criminal penalties for: 

(a) (1) [w]hoever knowing that the property 
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involved in a financial transaction 
represents the proceeds of some form of 
unlawful activity, conducts or attempts to 
conduct a financial transaction which in fact 
involves the proceeds of specified unlawful 
activity -

(A) (i) with the intent to promote the 
carrying on of specified unlawful activitYi 
or 

(B) knowing that the transaction is 
designed in whole or in part --

(i) to conceal or disguise the nature, the 
location, the source of ownership, or the 
control of the proceeds of specified unlawful 
activitYi or 

(ii) to avoid a transaction reporting 
requirement under State or Federal law 

(2) Whoever transports, transmits, or 
transfers, or attempts to transport, 
transmit, or transfer a monetary instrument 
or funds from a place in the United States to 
or through a place outside the United States 
or to a place in the United States from or 
through a place outside the United States--

(A) with the intent to promote the carrying 
on of specified unlawful activitYi or 

(B) knowing that the monetary instrument or 
funds involved in the transportation 
represent the proceeds of some form of 
unlawful activity and knowing that such 
transportation, transmission, or transfer is 
designed in whole or in part--

(i) to conceal or disguise the nature, the 
location, the source, the ownership, or the 
control of the proceeds of specified unlawful 
activitYi or 
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(ii) to avoid a transaction reporting 
requirement under State or Federal law. 

151. In addition, Section 1956(h) provides, in part, 

that " [a]ny person who conspires to commit any offense defined in 

this section or section 1957 shall be subject to the same 

penalties as those prescribed for the offense the commission of 

which was the object of the conspiracy." 

152. 18 U.S.C. § 1957 provides in relevant part that: 

Whoever .. knowingly engages or attempts 
to engage in a monetary transaction in 
criminally derived property of a value 
greater than $10,000 and is derived from 
specified unlawful activity, shall be 
punished as provided in subsection (b). 

153. "Monetary transactions" is defined in 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1957(f) (1) as the "deposit, withdrawal, transfer, or exchange, 

in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce of funds ... by, 

through, or to a financial institution . . . including any 

transaction that would be a financial transaction under section 

1956(c) (4) (B) of this title " 

154. "Criminally derived property" is defined in 18 

U.S.C. § 1957(f) (2) as "any property constituting, or derived 

from, proceeds obtained from a criminal offense." 

155. "Specified unlawful activity" is defined in 18 

U.S.C. § 1957(f) (3) as having the same meaning as that term has 

in 18 U.S.C. § 1956. As noted above, the term "specified 

unlawful activity," as defined in Section 1956, includes 
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violations of IEEPA. 

156. In addition, the term "financial transaction" is 

defined in 18 U.S.C. § 1956(c} (4), and includes \\a transaction 

which in any way or degree affects interstate or foreign commerce 

(i) involving the movement of funds by wire or other means or 

(ii) involving one or more monetary instruments II 

157. Because the Defendant Properties constitute 

properties involved in money laundering transactions and 

attempted money laundering transactions in violation of Sections 

1956 and 1957, they are subject to forfeiture pursuant to 18 

U.S.C. § 981{a) (1) (A). 
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WHEREFORE t plaintiff United States of America prays 

that process issue to enforce the forfeiture of the Defendant 

Properties and that all persons having an interest in the 

Defendant Properties be cited to appear and show cause why the 

forfeiture should not be decreed t and that this Court decree 

forfeiture of the Defendant Properties to the United States of 

America for disposition <according to law and that this Court 

grant plaintiff such further relief as this Court may deem just 

and proper together with the costs and disbursements in this 

action. 

Dated: New York t New York 
November 12t 2009 

By: 

PREET BHARARA 
United States Attorney for 
Plaintiff United States of America 

SHARON COHEN LEVIN 
ANNA E. ARREOLA 
MICHAEL D. LOCKARD 
Assistant United States Attorneys 
One St. Andrewts Plaza 
New York t New York 10007 
(212) 637-1060/2218/2193 
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STATE OF NEW YORK 
COUNTY OF NEW YORK 

VERIFICATION 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

GEORGE J. ENNIS, JR. being duly sworn, deposes and says 

that he is a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of 

Investigation ("FBI"); that he has read the foregoing amended 

complaint and knows the contents thereof, and that the same is 

true to the best of his knowledge, information and belief. 

The sources of deponent's information and the grounds 

of his belief are his personal involvement in the investigation, 

and conversations with and documents prepared by law enforcement 

officers and others. 

this 
r 2009 

MARCO DASILVA 
Notary Public, State of New York 

No. 01 DA614560 
Qualified in Nassau 

My Commission Expires -'-+JIl-;;.;...t.~....-..; 

of Investigation 


